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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: I would like to

          3  thank everyone for coming out today to listen to two

          4  very important resolutions here in the City Council.

          5  My name is Council Member Jose Serrano and I chair

          6  the Committee on Cultural Affairs, Libraries and

          7  International Intergroup Relations. And there are

          8  two resolutions that the Committee will be hearing

          9  today, hearing testimony on.

         10                 The first is Resolution No. 177, by

         11  Council Member Yassky, which is a resolution

         12  supporting Hungarian Holocaust Survivors as they

         13  seek justice from the United States government for

         14  its mishandling of the Gold Train. And further

         15  urging the United States Department of Justice to

         16  stop resisting these elderly survivors and instead

         17  to promptly reach a fair settlement with them as a

         18  modest and overdue measure of justice.

         19                 The second resolution is Resolution

         20  11A by Council Member Brewer, and that's the

         21  resolution calling upon the Republican National

         22  Committee to repudiate the irresponsible and

         23  dangerous policies of the National Rifle

         24  Association.

         25                 And further calling upon the
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          2  Republican National Committee to denounce the

          3  intolerance and inflammatory comments made by

          4  members of the National Rifle Association leadership

          5  that are offensive to many communities that bring to

          6  the City the diversity that ensures its vibrancy.

          7                 I'd like to speak a little bit on the

          8  first Resolution before I turn it over to the

          9  sponsor, David Yassky.

         10                 Resolution No. 177 would support

         11  Hungarian Holocaust survivors as they seek justice

         12  from the United States for its mishandling of the

         13  Gold Train. The resolution would also urge the

         14  United States Department of Justice to stop

         15  resisting these survivors and instead to promptly

         16  reach a fair settlement with them as an overdue

         17  measure of justice.

         18                 Resolution No. 177 would state that

         19  the Nazi persecution of Jews in Hungary, achieved in

         20  just a few months in 1944, was amongst the most

         21  brutal chapters in human history. The resolution

         22  would note that the Nazis systematically stole

         23  valuable and emotionally priceless personal property

         24  from the Hungarian Jewish community. Property that

         25  was loaded onto a train that would have eventually

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  become known as the Gold Train and shipped west for

          3  plunder.

          4                 Resolution 177 would also note that

          5  upon the end of World War II, the United States Army

          6  accepted possession of the Gold Train and its

          7  contents. The resolution would observe that despite

          8  promising to return the property to the Holocaust

          9  survivors who were its rightful owners, United

         10  States government instead allowed the property to be

         11  misappropriated and sold at auction.

         12                 Resolution No. 177 would point out

         13  that the United States government misled these

         14  Holocaust survivors about what had happened to the

         15  contents of the Gold Train for decades, forcing them

         16  to build new lives from scratch without their family

         17  possessions. The resolution would also point out

         18  that these survivors, many of whom live in New York

         19  City, are now seeking justice, the full truth and

         20  compensation for their property from the United

         21  States government.

         22                 Finally, this resolution would note

         23  that instead of working with these elderly

         24  survivors, the United States Department of Justice

         25  has insisted on fighting them in court, claiming
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          2  immunity and seeking to delay their case. At this

          3  point, I'd like to turn it over to the sponsor for a

          4  few words, Council Member David Yassky.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, thank

          6  you so much, Chair Serrano. I want to thank you for

          7  holding this hearing and doing it so promptly. I

          8  think that this resolution is of the utmost

          9  importance for us to  pass, for us to send to

         10  Washington, for us to send to Attorney General John

         11  Ashcroft to demand justice.

         12                 I grew up in a family where members

         13  of my extended family perished in the Holocaust,

         14  survived the Holocaust and we talked.  I thought I

         15  knew everything there was to know, but I had never

         16  come across this episode until a few months ago. And

         17  you are going to hear from a couple of survivors

         18  themselves. I have one survivor, one child of a

         19  survivor, and the story you will hear was very

         20  compelling. And I want you to know, my colleagues,

         21  that even though you are only going to hear from, I

         22  believe, two people, that there are 50 people here.

         23  Every story would be just as compelling, and there

         24  are hundreds more in this City alone and every one

         25  of those stories just as compelling.
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          2                 And I want to be clear about this.

          3  This is an incident that involved the U.S. Army

          4  stealing people's property. Now, the U.S. Army was

          5  an army of liberation in World War II. There's no

          6  question about that. I think everybody here in this

          7  room knows that. This is not some effort to defame

          8  the U.S. Army. But this incident did happen. It's

          9  real. It's documented to the nines. There's no

         10  question about it. And the people who were

         11  victimized deserve some justice. What the U.S.

         12  Instead -- what the U.S. Department of so-called

         13  Justice is doing, is to treat these claims as if

         14  they're worthless. To see government lawyers try and

         15  bury people seeking justice in a mountain of paper

         16  and a mountain technicalities, that's what bad

         17  lawyers do. That's not what lawyers are supposed to

         18  do, particularly lawyers representing the United

         19  States government. There's a sign. When you walk

         20  into the United Department of Justice, it says, "the

         21  United States wins it case in court whenever justice

         22  is done." They are not supposed to be out there

         23  trying to fight off these claimants, they're

         24  supposed to be doing justice. And what is just and

         25  what is fair is to provide compensation for people
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          2  whose property was stolen. And it is particularly

          3  appropriate and I think particularly necessary for

          4  the New York City government and New York City

          5  Council to speak out on this.

          6                 There are more Holocaust survivors in

          7  New York City than any other City in this country.

          8  We do have a special role to play in calling for

          9  justice. And I want to again thank you, Chair

         10  Serrano, particularly for moving this so speedily.

         11  The people who need and deserve justice are not

         12  young people, and time is of the essence. And so for

         13  us to move this as speedily as you are doing, much

         14  faster than the ordinary Council process, I'm

         15  particularly grateful for, and I want to thank you.

         16                 And at last, I do want to thank all

         17  the people that came out here today. No one likes to

         18  talk about painful stories. No one likes to talk

         19  about painful things that happened in the past. And

         20  it's difficult for many people to do that. But the

         21  fact that you're doing it today to demand justice, I

         22  will tell you your voices will be heard. So, I thank

         23  you for coming out.

         24                 Thank you, Chair Serrano.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Yassky. And I thank you for bringing

          3  this to the Council and doing so much research and

          4  work to make this happen, an injustice to anyone is

          5  an injustice to all of us. I'm really happy that the

          6  City Council can continue to play a role in trying

          7  to shine light on issues and right some wrongs. And

          8  this is a very important resolution for us to be

          9  undertaking.

         10                 At this point, I'd like to mention

         11  that we are joined by Council Member Eric Gioia, who

         12  is a member of our Committee. Other members of the

         13  committee will be joining us. There are some other

         14  hearings that are going on, but they will be

         15  stopping in.

         16                 I'd also like to thank the staff of

         17  this committee for working so diligently to put this

         18  hearing together on short notice. Laura Gonzalez,

         19  and we pray for a speedy recovery of her Dad. He is

         20  in the hospital. We pray for a speedy recovery of

         21  him.

         22                 We'd like to thank also Rick Arbelo,

         23  Regina Poreda and Maria Alvarado for their help in

         24  putting this together.

         25                 At this point, I'd like to call up
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          2  our first panel of testifiers. Michael Waldman,

          3  Veronika Baum and Edith Amster. Would all three of

          4  you please come up to this table here by the

          5  microphones? You may begin when ever you're ready.

          6                 MR. WALDMAN: Mr. Chairman, allow me

          7  to introduce the two panel members, if you don't

          8  mind.

          9                 First off, my name is Michael

         10  Waldman. I am one of the attorneys representing the

         11  Hungarian Holocaust Survivors and their families. So

         12  many of whom you see here today and so many more of

         13  whom live in the City around us. And I want to

         14  start, and I know you're not here to hear from me.

         15  Let me just be very brief and start, first of all,

         16  by thanking you for holding this hearing, for

         17  holding it so promptly and for giving everybody here

         18  the chance to make their voices heard. And thank the

         19  members of the Committee, Council Member Gioia.  And

         20  of course, we want to thank Council Member David

         21  Yassky. We had the chance to meet with him shortly

         22  before this downstairs, and I think he was able to

         23  hear the intensity and also the appreciation from

         24  these people. We thank you for taking the lead on

         25  this.
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          2                 Mr. Chairman, this is actually the

          3  very first hearing by any legislative body anywhere

          4  in the United States on the subject of the Gold

          5  Train. And that's very significant. Because it's one

          6  of the first opening doors in halls of government to

          7  these people behind me. A first chance for people to

          8  really tell their story in the most public way, and

          9  were very appreciative.

         10                 As I say, I speak, the other

         11  attorneys who are here speak for 1,200 survivors and

         12  family members who live in New York. And they are

         13  asking you and the City Council to speak for them to

         14  Washington, to the Justice Department, to the people

         15  who are really making the decisions and we think

         16  acting badly currently in this case.

         17                 The facts of the Gold Train were set

         18  out in your statement and in the resolution very

         19  plainly. The United States was a force of

         20  liberation, and we're certainly not saying anything

         21  else. But the fact is some people who worked for the

         22  United States did something wrong and for many years

         23  the government lied about it, and continues to deny

         24  its role and deny justice.

         25                 We also want to make it very clear,
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          2  and I know you'll hear this from the other

          3  witnesses, that while this is a case about personal

          4  property, of course, what was taken from the

          5  Holocaust survivors and those who did not survive is

          6  far more important and far more precious than

          7  property. What's at stake here is more of a

          8  principal. Its more a question of right and wrong,

          9  and it's the kind of personal, emotionally powerful

         10  possessions that these people are thinking about and

         11  talking about, but especially what they're asking

         12  the government is simply to own up to what it has

         13  done and what it hasn't done.

         14                 I want to make clear that once the

         15  property was turned over to the United States, as we

         16  have increasingly learned, it was mishandled. It was

         17  allowed to be looted. The record is very clear and

         18  growing that Senior U.S. Military Personnel were

         19  allowed to take the property that should have been

         20  given back to the Holocaust survivors. And then the

         21  property was auctioned off here in this City in

         22  1948. And all the while the Jews of Hungary were

         23  asking for their property back, and the United

         24  States had a duty under the law and its own state of

         25  policies to give the property back and it lied about
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          2  it.

          3                 The reason this is so important now

          4  is this conduct by the government is continuing.

          5  This case was brought in 2001. And as several people

          6  said, the government could have and should have

          7  owned up to what it did and made fair and timely

          8  restitution to these people. Instead, it has raised

          9  objections against them that we go around the world

         10  telling other governments and other corporations

         11  they should not raise. It has denied facts that are

         12  obvious. And it has basically, as Council Member

         13  Yassky said, treated this case as if it were a

         14  typical litigation where you wear down the other

         15  side.

         16                 One thing we heard over and over

         17  again from the folks earlier today is time is of the

         18  essence. Time is of the essence. And we appreciate

         19  your speed and we hope you will speak to the people

         20  in power in Washington with your voice with this

         21  resolution.

         22                 The first witness is Veronika Baum,

         23  who is one of the survivors from Hungary.

         24                 MS. BAUM: Mr. Chairman and members of

         25  the Committee, my name is Veronika Baum. I want to
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          2  thank you for holding this hearing and for hearing

          3  my story.

          4                 Finally, someone in government is

          5  listening, and I'm grateful to you all. When I was a

          6  little girl, I lived in Budapest, Hungary. My

          7  parents, my brother and I lived a very happy life. I

          8  still remember it well. We lived in a comfortable

          9  apartment with beautiful art and culture all around.

         10                 My father had a dental supply

         11  business retail and wholesale. He was licensed to

         12  handle precious metals including tens of thousands

         13  of gold teeth, dental instruments and even an x-ray

         14  machine. When I was 12 years old in 1944, my

         15  childhood ended very suddenly. The Nazis took over

         16  Hungary. My parents were sent to concentration

         17  camps. My brothers and I were left without our

         18  parents to fend for ourselves in the ghetto. I never

         19  saw my father again.

         20                 The Nazi robbed my family of

         21  something so basic, it cannot be replaced. But they

         22  also robbed us of all our valuable possessions. The

         23  Nazi seized all our personal property, including my

         24  fathers dental supplies, my parents' collection of

         25  art and furniture and our money.
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          2                 It seems incredible, but when the

          3  Nazis stole our property, they gave us a receipt for

          4  some of it. For all these years, my brother and I

          5  kept that receipt. We still have it. I have given

          6  you a copy.

          7                 Here is what the receipt say.

          8  Sometime in May, we were ordered under decree

          9  1600-1944 to hand over our gold. My mother on behalf

         10  of our father delivered some of our dental good

         11  supplies in person and some of our personal jewelry.

         12  Even two of her rings and so stated in the receipt

         13  dated May 23, 1944.

         14                 After our parents were ordered and

         15  deported, about half a dozen men in German uniforms

         16  arrived at our apartment. They slowly went from room

         17  to room taking notes. They paid special attention to

         18  the room where the business was conducted. Shortly

         19  after that, my brothers and I were taken to the

         20  ghetto. When the war was over, we returned to our

         21  home. Everything was gone. We tried to rebuild our

         22  life. I was fortunate to be able to come to America

         23  in 1956 and moved to New York City. I have lived

         24  here ever since.

         25                 A few years ago, I learned with great
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          2  shock that our family's property and the property of

          3  other Hungarian Jews did not disappear in the war. I

          4  learned that it was on what had become known as the

          5  "Gold Train" that was turned over to the United

          6  States. I learned that the U.S. Government had

          7  refused to give us back our property and had lied

          8  about it for years.

          9                 Now, we are asking for something

         10  simple. We are asking for the government to admit it

         11  was wrong. We are asking for some small payment for

         12  what was taken and what our government refused to

         13  give back to us. All we ask for justice.

         14                 I feel deeply grateful to America. It

         15  helped to rescue the Jews from Nazi terror and later

         16  it took me in as an immigrant. But some people

         17  working for this government also did something very

         18  wrong. And it lied to me and thousands of other

         19  Hungarian Jews. I ask for your help to say to the

         20  Justice Department, please, give justice to the

         21  Hungarian Jews and end the shameful story of the

         22  Gold Train.

         23                 Again, thank you and God bless you

         24  for your help you are giving us.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very
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          2  much for your testimony.

          3                 Ma'am, you may begin.

          4                 MS. AMSTER: Mr. Chairman and members

          5  of the Council, thank you so much for being here

          6  today and listening to our story.

          7                 My name is Edith Kline Amster, and I

          8  live in Manhattan at 100 Beacon Street. And at the

          9  present time, I am a substitute teacher in adult

         10  education at District Council 37 in Lower Manhattan.

         11                 My parents immigrated from Hungary as

         12  second class passengers on a huge ocean liner that

         13  arrived in Ellis Island in 1931. I was fortunate to

         14  be born in Norwalk, Connecticut in 1932. However, my

         15  grandparents and relatives on both sides of my

         16  family who were Jews, were living in Shadbogod

         17  (phonetic), Hungary.

         18                 I was a young girl when the tragic

         19  events that we are discussing here today happened

         20  with my widowed mother in Norwalk, Connecticut.

         21                 Throughout the years, my mother

         22  regularly received letters from her parents and for

         23  several years after that when suddenly in the 1940's

         24  the letters stopped. There wasn't any more

         25  correspondence. And with the news about the Nazi
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          2  occupation of Hungary, she was very frantic with

          3  worry.

          4                 And one day, a packet of letters

          5  arrived from a concentration camp, Auschwitz. My

          6  mother went into a room in our house on 16 Gardener

          7  Street, Norwalk, Connecticut, closed the door and

          8  read thoroughly the horrid details of the events

          9  that had taken place. She remained in that room for

         10  several hours and finally came out tearfully and

         11  horribly distressed. She could never bring herself

         12  to read these letters out loud to me. And just told

         13  me the family was deported and all were annihilated

         14  in the death camps at Auschwitz. These letters were

         15  written by her brother, my uncle, Immena (phonetic)

         16  a physician, one of my uncles who had survived after

         17  the war was over. He wrote the entire dreadful story

         18  in vivid detail of the occupation and arrest and

         19  journey to the death camps. And of the horrible

         20  events that followed describing their execution and

         21  murder. Sadly, I don't have these letters. My mother

         22  must have destroyed them.

         23                 Apparently, the whole family,

         24  grandparents, uncles and aunts and cousins, were all

         25  deported and all their belongings and contents of
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          2  the family homes they owned and all their valuables

          3  were confiscated by the Nazis. My family were

          4  middle-class Jews who lived very well. The Nazis

          5  seized all the items in their homes and took their

          6  property. My mother had a partial list of these

          7  items, especially those that were left behind that

          8  were part of her true self - porcelain, china, gold

          9  jewelry, gold coins, gold watches and other precious

         10  items that they owned. Nothing remained to my

         11  knowledge that could be documented or itemized after

         12  the war.

         13                 My mother remembered many of these

         14  items and she did not speak to me about them.

         15  However, they existed. I guess she could not bring

         16  herself to think about the tragic losses of the

         17  family members and what they left and these memories

         18  were too painful.

         19                 I am here today as a grandchild to

         20  speak not only on my own family's behalf but on

         21  behalf of all of the other family members who were

         22  not able to speak here today. The children, the

         23  grandchildren of Holocaust survivors. When I learned

         24  that our family's property ended up on the Gold

         25  Train, and in all likelihood in the hands of the
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          2  U.S. Government, and that our government lied about

          3  it for so many years, I could scarcely believe it.

          4                 I had no idea that the United States

          5  played such a crucial role in mishandling the

          6  confiscated property of so many Jewish families in

          7  Hungary, those that perished and those that are

          8  alive and here today. That our own government had

          9  the facts and could help restore some of their

         10  personal property and chose not to do so is simply

         11  unjust and morally wrong.

         12                 I have seen many survivors and their

         13  families, and like me, we try to overcome the wounds

         14  and the scars of the tragic events of the Holocaust

         15  with courage and hope for a better world.

         16                 I thank the City Council for holding

         17  this hearing. I thank you for listening to us. And I

         18  thank you for taking a stand. I am proud that our

         19  City is prepared to speak out on our behalf. I hope

         20  that Attorney General Ashcroft and those in

         21  Washington, D.C., who have the power to listen

         22  closely, and have the moral courage, will have the

         23  moral courage to stand by a commitment to the

         24  survivors that is long overdue.

         25                 Thank you very much for having us
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          2  here today.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

          4  much. I'd like to mention that we've been joined by

          5  Council Member Philip Reed and Council Member Allan

          6  Jennings, both members of this Cultural Affairs

          7  Committee. And I'd like to once again thank you for

          8  your testimony, very moving testimony. With all the

          9  horrors that your families, you and your families

         10  must have faced, to have it compounded by this

         11  injustice just is incomprehensible. So, this Council

         12  will do all that we can to move this along and we

         13  want to just thank you for your constant diligence

         14  in this issue. Are there any other comments?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. Chair, I

         16  just want to thank you again. I want to thank Ms.

         17  Amster and Ms. Baum for your courage and your

         18  willingness to undertake the difficult task of

         19  coming and testifying today. It is important and

         20  worthwhile and I commend you for doing it.

         21                 I also want to reiterate to my

         22  colleagues that I understand that there is another

         23  hearing scheduled for later in the afternoon, and I

         24  know that you have another item on the agenda, so I

         25  know there's not time to hear all the stories here
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          2  today, but I just do want to reiterate that every

          3  person in this room could tell a story that is just

          4  as compelling, just as important as these two. And I

          5  want to assure the people who did come here today

          6  are in the audience that your voices are heard. And

          7  that this Council is going to act on them. So I know

          8  there's not time for everybody to speak, but I do

          9  want assure you that your voices are heard just the

         10  same. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you. Also,

         12  you read testimony, we don't have copies. If

         13  possible, we'd like copies for our record of the

         14  testimony that the two of you gave. Whenever you get

         15  a chance.

         16                 MR. WALDMAN: Yes, Chair. We can get

         17  you those. We also have a written statement that we

         18  will give to you as well.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Absolutely. Now

         20  as Chair, I would like to have a vote on this. We're

         21  waiting for the person who will administer the vote.

         22  So, we're waiting for the gentlemen to come up who

         23  will call the roll.

         24                 We're actually going to hear a couple

         25  of words from one more person before we call the
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          2  roll. Andrew Pinter.

          3                 MR. PINTER: Yes, sir. My name is

          4  Andrew Pinter from --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: You can have a

          6  seat and speak into the microphone.

          7                 MR. PINTER: -- From Queens, New York

          8   -- from Queens, New York. Just a few words I say, I

          9  want to say because the subject here the Gold Train.

         10  With what happened to us, with happened to the

         11  family who all died, we explained to the Holocaust

         12  Mosahom (phonetic), we explained to the Claim

         13  Conference, and only why we came here for the Gold

         14  Train, and thank you very much for people who is a

         15  congressman or senator who tried to help us, we are

         16  old people, we lost everything, and tried to have us

         17  when we still alive. Thank you very much for

         18  listening.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. Chair, if

         20  I may?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm sorry.

         23  Because the gentleman speaks of Congressman, I feel

         24  the Committee members should know and the audience

         25  should know that several members of Congress have
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          2  been active in support of this issue, including

          3  Congressman Anthony Weiner, Senators Clinton and I

          4  believe Schumer, and also Senator Specter from

          5  Pennsylvania. But there are representatives in

          6  Washington pressing this issue forward with the

          7  Attorney General.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you. We're

          9  waiting for one other member of the Committee.

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:

         11  May I talk to you?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Yes, Ma'am?

         13                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:

         14  Mr. Serrano, I feel that we are --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Excuse me. Ms.

         16  Rotter.  Mr. Rotter, I'm sorry.

         17                 MR. ROTTER: Very honored, the

         18  government official and representative. My name is

         19  Izidor Rotter (phonetic). I'm here over 50 years. I

         20  come here in 1945 and I'm very happy. Naturally, I

         21  was going to sit down and kiss the ground, but in my

         22  mind and in my emotions, I kiss the ground everyday

         23  that I'm here. And I'm the one as a witness to see

         24  the difference between freedom and non-freedom.

         25  Maybe you wouldn't like it that I mix in a few other
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          2  things, but I prepared a little speech on the subway

          3  when I come, and I have to go and tell my pain and

          4  represent mostly of these people, and to give you to

          5  understand what's all about it.

          6                 As it is, as it was.  Yes, as it is,

          7  as it was, but not like 2000 years ago. It was about

          8  60 years ago that the tragic thing what befell the

          9  whole Europe. And the reason that befell the Europe,

         10  because at that time there was no caliber

         11  representative, the strong men. The men with emotion

         12  who are burning in their hearts who clearly wanted

         13  to go and save the world, like our honorable in that

         14  the most best men who do the fighting before like

         15  Mr. Clinton in Serbia and now is Mr. -- Now is our

         16  President, George Bush. Right, the younger Bush, who

         17  said first you shoot and then we ask questions, and

         18  that's what he did. And if it would be people like

         19  these men, our wonderful President, that would never

         20  happen like that.

         21                 But that time, I don't know what -- I

         22  know it is United Nations. One day I was vacationing

         23  in Saratoga, and I said, the people are terrible

         24  against Israel. The United Nations is not honest. So

         25  what he said, I don't call them United Nations, and
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          2  we don't call them the United Nations. They are

          3  united in (speaking another language), the crazy

          4  people. They are not normal people, because they are

          5  discriminating for people who want to have freedom

          6  and so it is.

          7                 Now, I get to the point. As it was 60

          8  years ago as it is now and it was, the point is

          9  this:  I seen it. I was there in person. I'm 79

         10  years old in three weeks later. Thanks to science.

         11  Thanks to the American wonderful doctors and their

         12  instruments. Five doctors treated me from cancer

         13  from everything. I feel like when I was liberated

         14  from concentration camp like a 19 year old boy. So

         15  what I want to point out, the Nazis -- I had a

         16  present. They come on my birthday and they occupied

         17  Hungary. That was on March 19, 1944. I worked in the

         18  bakery. There was a German solider, a nice man. In

         19  the bakery. A baker. He told me he was one of the

         20  soldiers who occupied Hungary. They were gathering

         21  in concentration camp -- near the concentration

         22  camp, if you heard, thousands. So I was in that

         23  concentration camp also. I visited Hungary five

         24  times. I visited Israel five times. I've been in

         25  Canada three times and I took my family. So what I
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          2  want point out that when they came in was a little

          3  bit quite like a Jewish holiday like Napoleon they

          4  called him. After four weeks later was Passover and

          5  then --

          6                 MR. WALDMAN: You're out of time.

          7                 MR. ROTTER: Here, here. After

          8  Passover.  It is better now? Here. After Passover --

          9  lower. So, after Passover, what happened, they took

         10  me away. Okay, right away. So I will finish it up.

         11                 So after Passover, they went and they

         12  took people like me who could work. They would work,

         13  from I think Miscar (phonetic). So then when we came

         14  home, they said we should go in the ghetto. There

         15  was no more where we were living. But I point out, I

         16  went in a room. They said Jewish federation meet --

         17                 MR. WALDMAN: We need to move on.

         18  They're going to vote now.

         19                 MR. ROTTER: Yes. Jewish federation

         20  need help.. I went to get help and they took us in a

         21  room. The room was outside the armory. There were

         22  about 30 Jewish people against the wall. I went in

         23  and bring them chairs. And when I bring them the

         24  chairs, I went in.  There was soldiers sleeping.

         25  When I went there, there was a long hallway and that
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          2  was why I came here about the gold. They went and

          3  when I came back in that room from the ghetto --

          4                 MR. WALDMAN:: Thank you very much.

          5                 MR. ROTTER: They have to interrupt?

          6                 MR. WALDMAN: Yes, they have to vote.

          7                 MR. ROTTER: That is finished? You

          8  have to interrupt them?

          9                 MR. WALDMAN: Yes.

         10                 MR. ROTTER: Okay.

         11                 MR. WALDMAN:: Thank you very much.

         12                 MR. ROTTER: Okay. I'll just finish in

         13  a second.

         14                 What I see was terrible. We went in a

         15  hallway and the way we went in a hallway, was the

         16  table, mountains of gold. Mountains of watches.

         17  Mountains of rings, earrings. Mountains of bracelets

         18  from the feet. And two gentlemen went and saw it.

         19  And they cut open the shoes from ladies and people,

         20  their shoes and they took out the gold. So I went in

         21  the room. But two soldiers sleeping in the daytime.

         22  One sec. Finished? Finished.

         23                 MR. WALDMAN: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you, sir.

         25                 MR. ROTTER: So I seen --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

          3  Unfortunately, were pressed for time. We have to

          4  hear another resolution and we're waiting for one

          5  other member before we can begin to vote. We need

          6  another member for our quorum.

          7                 While we wait, I would like to begin

          8  hearing testimony on our second resolution which is

          9  Resolution 11A. And that's the resolution by Council

         10  Member Brewer calling upon the Republican National

         11  Committee to repudiate the irresponsible and

         12  dangerous policies of the NRA.

         13                 With that, I would like to turn it

         14  over to Council Member Brewer, if she would like to

         15  say a couple of words on her legislation.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         17  much. And I also appreciate, Chairman Serrano,

         18  you're very quick scheduling of this particular

         19  resolution. And I think it's actually quite apropos

         20  because as you'll hear from the testimony from

         21  Richard Aborn in particular, there was a lot of

         22  activity in the United States Senate yesterday. And

         23  he'll talk about some of the bills. And I think

         24  there was a success, in terms of the resolutions

         25  that we have proposed. Basically closing some
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          2  loopholes that I think would be advantageous to New

          3  Yorkers and extending the assault weapon ban at

          4  least on a preliminary situation. So were very

          5  excited and I think, therefore, this is a very

          6  timely topic here today.

          7                 This particular resolution does not

          8  curtail free speech. What it says is that those

          9  members of the National Rifle Association who are

         10  coming, as we understand it, and they have every

         11  right to do so, to the Republican Convention here

         12  this summer in New York, because we are a City that

         13  has a long history, this Mayor, this City Council,

         14  previous Mayors, previous City Councils, thinking

         15  about the ways that our City Council can be safer,

         16  we have a long history of thinking about gun control

         17  and this particular resolution says that some of the

         18  policies, if not all of the policies, of the

         19  National Rifle Association really run counter to how

         20  we feel about guns in our City. So, we would very

         21  much urge the members of the Republican Party, some

         22  of whom are in leadership positions at NRA, not all,

         23  to also denounce some of the policies.

         24                 I just want to add that unlike the

         25  great David Yassky, who spent many years thinking
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          2  about these issues in Washington in a previous job,

          3  and who has done a terrific efforts here proposing

          4  different kinds of gun control legislations to make

          5  our City safer, I had not been the object of

          6  e-mails. But I know he has from people from the NRA.

          7  They have cursed, said really nasty things to staff

          8  both in writing and on the phone and in letters. I

          9  have a whole stack of them here with me today,

         10  things I don't want to repeat actually. I will say

         11  gleefully that they are not from New York City. They

         12  have been from across the country. If that's an

         13  example of what citizens have to say about us here

         14  in New York, with all due respect, their policy

         15  should be denounced. So that's what this resolution

         16  is all about.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you,

         18  Council Member Brewer. I'd like to thank you for

         19  bringing this to the Council. Very important issue.

         20  At this point, were going to jump back. We've been

         21  joined by Council Member Domenic Recchia, who is a

         22  member of the Cultural Affairs Committee, and we can

         23  now vote on the Resolution No. 177, that is the Gold

         24  Train resolution. I will very happily be voting yes.

         25  At this point, Id like to ask that the roll be
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          2  called.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Serrano.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: May I be excused

          7  to explain my vote?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chair. I want to thank you all for coming very much

         11  and bringing this to our attention and certainly to

         12  Council Member Yassky.

         13                 Once again, we are reminded that the

         14  inhumanity that we can foster on one another is not

         15  lost. It's still painful. I very much appreciate you

         16  being here and want to be listed as a sponsor of

         17  this resolution. God bless you. I vote Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Mr. Chairman,

         20  may I explain my vote, please?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you for

         23  your leadership on this and thank you for bringing

         24  this before the Committee. And also thank you to

         25  Council Member Yassky for bringing this to our
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          2  attention. Because I didn't know of it before you

          3  brought it to our attention. And ladies and

          4  gentlemen, thank you all very much for coming to

          5  City Hall today to have your voices heard. And to

          6  those of you who testified, your words were at times

          7  heartbreaking and I'm terribly sorry for all that

          8  you have had to go through. This is a symbolic step

          9  and a small step that we can take today to help you

         10  in the right direction. And I know that you do have

         11  friends here in the City Council and I hope that

         12  General Ashcroft and President Bush finally do come

         13  to their senses and stop adding insult to injury

         14  here.

         15                 So thank you very much for coming

         16  down, and I proudly vote Aye on all.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Recchia.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Good morning,

         19  Mr. Chairman.

         20                 I would just like to add my name to

         21  the bill as a sponsor. I see it was left off. I,

         22  too, also, would like to thank everyone for coming

         23  down here.  Sure, my colleague. Eric.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Mr. Chair,

         25  actually it was a very good idea by Councilman
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          2  Recchia, I'd like to add my name as a sponsor as

          3  well with your permission. Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes. I'd like

          5  to thank everyone and I also support you and want

          6  you to know that what the Attorney General of the

          7  United States is doing is not fair. And we the

          8  Council City is not just going to sit back and let

          9  this happen. So, we support it. I vote Aye. And say

         10  that we should move forward with this and support

         11  them as much as we can.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

         13  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         14  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         15  please sign the Committee report.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. Chairman,

         17  may I have your indulgence for one final comment?

         18  Just to say, again, to thank you and thank the

         19  Committee members for their support.

         20                 I also want to advise all the folks

         21  in the audience that the attorneys you have been

         22  working with are going to go downstairs now and kind

         23  of brief you on what their next steps are. If you

         24  want to be briefed, I would encourage you to go

         25  downstairs and hear what they have to say. Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Serrano.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA. Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Recchia.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

         13  the affirmative, zero in the negative, no

         14  abstentions, the item is adopted.

         15                 Council Members, please sign the

         16  Committee report.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: I'd like to call

         18  up the first panel.

         19                 Amy Heath and Anthony Xanthakis, I

         20  believe. Please try to be as quiet as possible as

         21  you file out. We are still conducting a hearing

         22  here. You may begin whenever you're ready.

         23                 MS. HEATH: Test. Thank you. Hi.  My

         24  name is Amy Heath, and I'm the New York State Rifle

         25  and Pistol Associations Women's Shooting Sports
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          2  Director and I'm also proud member of the National

          3  Rifle Association. And I'm honored to be part of

          4  both of these organizations.

          5                 Should I pause for a moment? Once

          6  again, take two.

          7                 My name is Amy Heath and I'm the New

          8  York State Rifle and Pistol Associations Women's

          9  Shooting Sports Director and I'm also a proud member

         10  of the National Rifle Association.

         11                 I'm honored to be a part of both of

         12  these organizations because they are dedicated to

         13  preserving and protecting our most precious right as

         14  Americans, the second amendment.

         15                 I became an NRA life member as a

         16  teenager because my grandfather, Jeff Cooper, felt

         17  it was the best gift he could grant me. It was a

         18  gift of liberty. It was a gift of freedom. It was

         19  just one of the gifts that showed me how much he

         20  loved me and this country.

         21                 He always taught me that the second

         22  amendment, the right to keep and bear arms, is the

         23  most precious of all, because it protects all the

         24  others.

         25                 Without the second amendment, the
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          2  constitution will fall. We are the only people in

          3  the world that are allowed, through the words of a

          4  brilliant document written by our founding fathers

          5  that give us the freedom to protect ourselves and

          6  our land with a firearm. For that, we should be very

          7  grateful.

          8                 We have the ability to defend

          9  ourselves and others from harm and from evil and no

         10  one should be allowed to take that right away from

         11  our law-abiding citizens. The fact that the City

         12  Council of New York is making false accusations

         13  against a person such as my grandfather, by

         14  misinterpreting his words in a 1991 statement that

         15  he made in making him sound like a racist, makes me

         16  very disturbed and troubled.

         17                 My grandfather, Jeff Cooper, is known

         18  as the father of the modern pistol technique. You

         19  ask anyone in the gun industry and they will tell

         20  you about the countless lives he has helped save by

         21  training law-abiding citizens of many, many races,

         22  how to defend themselves safely and properly with a

         23  firearm. My grandfather is also a World War II and

         24  Korea veteran of the United States Marine Corps. He

         25  went off to war and put his life on the line, as
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          2  well as millions of others before and since him, in

          3  order to protect our precious freedom, guaranteed by

          4  our constitution and our rule of law. And when my

          5  grandfather went to the Pacific and Korea, he

          6  defended our way of life and threats from without.

          7  And when my grandfather helped lead the NRA in

          8  defense of the second amendment, he is defending our

          9  way of life against the ever-present risk of

         10  corruption and tyranny from within.

         11                 Democracy is no guarantee of human

         12  rights. A bill of rights that can be enforced by the

         13  people of the republic when all else fails is the

         14  best guarantor of our rights and freedoms. And my

         15  grandfather knows that. And no one wants all

         16  Americans of every background to know those rights

         17  and freedom and the pride and responsibility of

         18  defending those rights and freedoms more than my

         19  grandfather. And he objects to the worship of

         20  diversity mantra, not out of disdain for anyone, but

         21  because he believes that neither any person nor our

         22  nation become or remain its best by thinking of

         23  enjoying rights within any group smaller than that

         24  of Americans. For people who do not know my

         25  grandfather, to twist his words and paint him as
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          2  someone he is not is very offensive. And on the

          3  subject of the National Rifle Association, I am not

          4  a spokesperson for them. I want to be clear about

          5  that. But I do know that the NRA promotes nothing

          6  but safety and responsibility with firearms. And

          7  that with unmatched skill and commitment.

          8                 I'm a volunteer 22 rifle instructor

          9  and organizer at the West Side Rifle and Pistol

         10  Range for an NRA program called Women on Target.

         11  Around 300 women in New York City have been trained

         12  safely and responsibly on the 22 rifle through this

         13  program. Here are some other examples of the support

         14  that organizations such as the NRA and the NYSRPA

         15  give back to their communities.

         16                 The NYSRPA, which is the state

         17  affiliate of the National Rifle Association, has

         18  annually recognized excellence in law enforcement at

         19  its annual meeting and recently in 2002 was proud to

         20  have among its honorees one of NYC's finest,

         21  Detective Steve Albanese, whose energetic and

         22  creative work has improved the opportunity for

         23  advanced firearms training for NYPD officers. The

         24  NRA's Jeanne Bray Memorial Scholarship Awards

         25  Program, named for the late Columbus, Ohio, police
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          2  officer, shooting champion, and NRA director, offers

          3  scholarships up to $1,000 per semester to dependent

          4  children of any public law enforcement officer

          5  killed in the line of duty who was an NRA member at

          6  the time of death. And to dependent children of any

          7  current or retired law enforcement officers who are

          8  living and have current NRA membership. An NRA law

          9  enforcement officer felonious death benefits

         10  provides $25,000 insurance benefits to the widow or

         11  survivors of any NRA member law enforcement officer

         12  who was feloniously killed in the line of duty.

         13                 Also, immediate past president

         14  Charlton Heston, lived a life long commitment to

         15  civil rights and not just the right to keep and bear

         16  arms. When marching with Dr. Martin Luther King,

         17  Jr., was not a good career move in Hollywood,

         18  Charlton Heston was marching for justice with Dr.

         19  King. And in the years leading up to those troubled

         20  times, NRA members were assisting black Americans in

         21  Monroe, North Carolina to defend by force of arms

         22  their lives, homes, and dignity against riding

         23  Klansman. Those freedom loving black Americans

         24  formed a 60 member, proudly NRA chartered rifle

         25  club, proudly chartered by the NRA when the
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          2  encouragement of blacks in their full rights was not

          3  a popular move in North Carolina.

          4                 NRA has championed effective crime

          5  control measures such as Project Exile, the national

          6  instant check provisions of the Brady Law and Our

          7  Lady of Peace Act to tighten up mental health record

          8  inclusion in the background check system. The NRA

          9  has led the way in the development of effective,

         10  life saving safety training for children and

         11  grown-ups alike. NRA's content neutral message of

         12  firearms safety for children, the Eddie Eagle

         13  Program, has won awards and has been commended from

         14  the National Safety Council, the American Legion,

         15  and other independent groups and numerous elected

         16  officials, Democrat and Republican.

         17                 So, in closing, I would like to say

         18  that plenty of pro-rights Democratics have enjoyed

         19  NRA political committee support. New York City and

         20  state gun owners support friends of freedom in

         21  elected office without regard to party affiliation.

         22  And the RPA-PAC, the Registered Political Committee

         23  recognized by the New York State Rifle and Pistol

         24  Association as the Political Action Committee for

         25  the republic -- the reputable New York gun owner,

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  disbursed approximately half of its contributions in

          3  each of the 2002 and 2003 election cycles to

          4  Democrats. And it is unbecoming and unfair for the

          5  Democrats of this committee to call on Republicans

          6  to divest themselves of the support of the second

          7  amendment community without insisting that the NRA

          8  supportive Democrats do the same.

          9                 I thank you for your time and I'd be

         10  pleased to answer any questions that you may have.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: You may begin,

         12  sir.

         13                 MR. XANTHAKIS: Thank you. I actually

         14  found out about this hearing this morning. So, I

         15  don't have a prepared statement. My name is Anthony

         16  Xanthakis. I happen to be an attorney. I am a

         17  counsel to the Staten Island Sportsman Association.

         18  But I'm here -- I'm also an NRA member. And I'm here

         19  as a private citizen.

         20                 I managed to get a copy of the

         21  proposed resolution on line this morning and were

         22  questioning some of the findings of the resolution.

         23  The first being that the Council has proposed to

         24  find that the NRA and its associated lobbing group,

         25  the ILA, have the stated goal of preserving the
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          2  right of all law-abiding individuals to purchase,

          3  possess and use firearms for legitimate purposes as

          4  guaranteed by the second amendment to the United

          5  States Constitution. The first thing that struck me

          6  is why is that a bad thing. The NRA is calling on

          7  possession of firearms by law-abiding citizens and

          8  only advocates the use of those firearms for

          9  legitimate purposes.

         10                 There are some statements in the

         11  proposed resolution dealing with comments made by

         12  NRA leadership. I don't know whether those comments

         13  are accurate or not. For the purposes of today,

         14  we'll assume that they were accurate. Wayne LaPierre

         15  (phonetic) who is the executive vice president and

         16  CEO of the NRA, it stated has called upon anyone

         17  that supports gun control to be an enemy of freedom

         18  and a political terrorist. I don't know if he said

         19  that. The fact of the matter is that this board --

         20  this Council may have the opposite opinion. This

         21  Council may feel that anyone who opposes gun control

         22  is an enemy of freedom and political terrorist.

         23                 Fortunately, there is also another

         24  amendment called the First Amendment, which give

         25  persons to have different points of view and express
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          2  those different points of view without fear of

          3  reprisal from bodies such as this one. This body can

          4  ask the Republican National Committee to repudiate

          5  such statements. It's curious as to why they

          6  wouldn't ask other bodies such as the DNC to

          7  repudiate those statements, if in fact, the DNC as

          8  was stated earlier, probably has NRA members within

          9  it. And may even enjoy a great deal of support from

         10  the NRA with respect to their membership.

         11                 What I would ask for this Council

         12  just to consider is there are differences of opinion

         13  on this issue. And I don't believe if there is any

         14  dispute or any problem with a few members of the NRA

         15  having made statements that that should disparage

         16  the entire organization.

         17                 Although, I don't believe that -- I

         18  can't comment on any of these statements because I

         19  don't know that they were said. But the fact of the

         20  matter is that it is a good organization. It's a

         21  strong organization, as you all know. And the number

         22  one point of the entire organization really is

         23  firearm safety. The Staten Island Sportsmen have a

         24  trap range on Staten Island. You probably don't even

         25  know that we shoot, trap on Staten Island. And we've
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          2  been doing so safely since the 1930's. Without the

          3  NRA, I don't know that our group would be around.

          4  Really.

          5                 We have trained NRA fire instructors

          6  training in firearms from the NRA. We've received,

          7  and ranges out in Staten Island also have received

          8  money from the NRA for improvement. Improvement such

          9  as sound deadening. In order to make sure that the

         10  neighborhood can live with us together and we can

         11  coexist.

         12                 Colonial Rifle Range in Staten Island

         13  has 450 members. Every single one of them is NRA.

         14  They've received funds from the NRA for range

         15  improvements, mostly to make sure that we are good

         16  neighbors, that we keep the sound down so that we

         17  can coexist.

         18                 The NRA is foremost in teaching gun

         19  safety. To repudiate that organization just makes no

         20  sense. When there is no one, no organization that

         21  I'm aware of, better at the NRA than teaching gun

         22  safety. We can have arguments about the assault

         23  weapon bans until were blue in the face, the fact of

         24  the matter is the NRA in the 30's backed, backed the

         25  firearms control law which banned private ownership
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          2  of machine guns. They were on the forefront of that.

          3  There's an issue right now as to what exactly is an

          4  assault weapon, and if I ask each one of you Council

          5  person what an assault weapon is, I guarantee you

          6  I'm going to get three different answers. There is a

          7  dispute as to that.

          8                 So, what I just ask you to consider

          9  is that there are very, very good members in the

         10  NRA, maybe some members on the Council. Although,

         11  maybe they won't admit it, are members of the NRA,

         12  and I ask you to consider their views as well. Thank

         13  you very much for your consideration.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         15  Council Member Brewer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I want to

         17  thank you both for joining us here today. I have a

         18  couple of questions. First of all, it's not your

         19  fault, because were slow on the Internet front. But

         20  there is a new version and some of your comments

         21  have been eliminated.  Some of the points that you

         22  made are valid. And they're out of the so-called A

         23  meaning amended version. So before you leave, we'll

         24  make sure you get a copy of that. I apologize for

         25  that. I chair the Technology Committee and I'm
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          2  always upset --

          3                 MR. XANTHAKIS: I thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: -- We don't

          5  get things up fast enough.

          6                 MR. XANTHAKIS: I thank you. And that

          7  was this morning too that I had pulled it up.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I apologize

          9  for that.

         10                 MR. XANTHAKIS: No problem.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So you have

         12  legitimate concerns there.

         13                 MR. XANTHAKIS: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: One question I

         15  have for both of you is, do you think there's any

         16  room in the second amendment for gun control laws or

         17  is it not something that you think is possible?

         18                 MS. HEATH: Go ahead.

         19                 MR. XANTHAKIS: Absolutely. I believe

         20  that felons should never have a weapon. That's my

         21  personal belief. I don't believe that persons who

         22  are convicted felons should be allowed to have

         23  firearms. Unless, of course -- there are provisions

         24  for that being eliminated, such as there are

         25  expungement of records and whatnot, but that's my
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          2  personal belief.

          3                 I also don't believe that persons who

          4  are mentally disabled should have a firearm. And the

          5  NRA, I think, has supported all of this The NRA

          6  supported national instant crime, the system by

          7  which everyone in this country who purchased a

          8  firearm must be checked, I think its called the

          9  National Instant Crime Check System, to make sure

         10  that person does not have a criminal record. The NRA

         11  supported that measure to make sure that people who

         12  shouldn't have guns, don't get them. So, yes, there

         13  is, of course, restrictions. Just as there is

         14  restriction on the first amendment. No amendment

         15  that we know of is completely full proof. You know

         16  the old line, fire in the theater. Okay, fine.

         17  Incitement to riot. We know that that's not

         18  permitted. So there are restrictions probably in

         19  each amendment. Plenty in the fourth and the fifth

         20  that were aware of.

         21                 MS. HEATH: I'd like to say one

         22  comment on that. Being an NRA certified rifle,

         23  pistol and shotgun instructor, my objective, every

         24  time I teach someone how to use a firearm safely and

         25  responsibly is, have fun with it too. I mean guns
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          2  aren't all about violence. When I teach those women,

          3  they cannot get the smiles off their faces about how

          4  much fun they're having. Because they're learning a

          5  skill that's teaching them focus and they're having

          6  a great time. And it's a challenge to be able to hit

          7  a paper target, just a bulls-eye target at a range.

          8  And they get such a rise out of it. And they love

          9  it. And what about all the hunters. What about all

         10  the people, the recreational shooters?  I think

         11  we're missing a really valid point when we're always

         12  focusing on the violence.

         13                 But what about the positive things

         14  that happen with firearms, that law-abiding citizens

         15  take advantage every day. Being an NRA member, I'm

         16  very, very upset and disgusted when I see crimes

         17  happening illegally with firearms to kill innocent

         18  people. And I grieve for those people. And that is

         19  not what I'm about. And I've never been that way.

         20  And I will never be that way. I would never join an

         21  organization that supported that, and that's not

         22  what we're advocating here.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I know

         24  time is of the essence. But one of the concerns, of

         25  course, it would seem to me that, I don't know if
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          2  you as individuals, but obviously the NRA was very

          3  involved with the immunity bill in Washington. And

          4  that does seem to me that that does lead to some

          5  very challenging situations for our City, in

          6  particular. Or any place where people can get

          7  illegal guns. Is that something that you personally

          8  agree with the NRA on? I know that you're members.

          9  But do you agree with them on that?

         10                 MR. XANTHAKIS: I do to one extent. I

         11  was here when we testified about a bill that was

         12  similar. I think it was in September.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         14                 MR. XANTHAKIS: Sponsored by Council

         15  Member Moskowitz, I believe.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes.

         17                 MR. XANTHAKIS: Okay. I think that was

         18  tabled, if I'm not mistaken, by the Council. In any

         19  event, she was addressing two different systems.

         20  Tort system. Okay. The tort system has always been a

         21  system which wanted and required there to be some

         22  sort of a defect in a product before you hit that

         23  manufacturer with liability. There is nothing

         24  defective about a properly-operating weapon. If you

         25  point it at a person and pull the trigger, usually
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          2  it will go off and usually it will injure the person

          3  or kill them, if it hits them with the projectile.

          4  That is a properly-operating weapon. You can't make

          5  it so it doesn't work in that fashion. What you

          6  can't control is the person behind the gun. That's

          7  the part where the legislation is always going to

          8  fail. Because in tort law we have a concept of

          9  approximate cause. And that's where it is always

         10  going to fail in a situation. That's why the

         11  legislation is really faulty in that respect.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.

         13                 MS. HEATH: Just a couple of comments

         14  on that.

         15                 Again, I think Anthony is very right

         16  in saying that I wish there was some way we could

         17  solve the problem of gun violence in the City.

         18  Because it's disgusting and it appalls me. And I

         19  wish there was a way that we could administer

         20  stricter laws against the person behind the gun that

         21  is doing something illegal. And, boy, if we could

         22  solve that problem of gun violence in the City, if

         23  we could put stiffer measurements on the laws that

         24  are already in place and also against the person

         25  operating the firearm and not making the law-abiding
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          2  citizen suffer, because there are so many good

          3  law-abiding gun owners. And I get so angry when I

          4  see these criminals that take these innocent lives

          5  illegally. And it's reprehensible and it angers me

          6  to no end. And believe me, I am very much in favor

          7  of dealing with gun violence when it comes to

          8  dealing with the criminal behind the fire arm.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         10  much. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you,

         12  Council Member Brewer. And thank you to the two

         13  witnesses for your testimony.

         14                 And this point, I'd like to call up

         15  the next panel.

         16                 MS. HEATH: Thank you for your time.

         17                 MR. XANTHAKIS: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Barbara Hohlt. I

         19  believe I'm saying that right. And Richard Aborn.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you for

         21  waiting.

         22                 MR. ABORN: You're welcome.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: And also Edith

         24  Smith. You may begin with your testimony whenever

         25  you're ready.
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          2                 MR. ABORN: We were actually going to

          3  do this in a different order. But I think what I

          4  would like to do, if you have no objection, is to

          5  dispense with what I was going to say and maybe just

          6  talk for a few minutes, very few minutes, about what

          7  the NRA has just --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: I just want to

          9  mention if you have extended testimony, feel free to

         10  summarize and give us the text. We'll make it part

         11  of the permanent record.

         12                 MR. ABORN: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: But try to keep

         14  your remarks as limited as possible.

         15                 MR. ABORN: I will. Thank you. To be

         16  polite, it really strains credulity for the NRA to

         17  get up and argue that they have not -- that they

         18  have supported the Brady Bill, that they have not

         19  taken positions on other bills and that they are all

         20  about firearm safety, safety training and teaching

         21  people to have a great time on Saturday afternoon

         22  with rifles. The reality is that the NRA has fought

         23  every single gun control law that we have put up in

         24  this state and in the Congress for about the last

         25  ten years. I was intimately involved with the
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          2  passage of the Brady Bill in Washington and know

          3  full well the NRA exercised every single political

          4  chip they had in order to stop the passage of that

          5  bill. And they have done likewise with the ban on

          6  assault weapons. They fought it ten years ago and

          7  they fought it again yesterday in the United States

          8  Senate. And I was intimately involved with both of

          9  those fights.

         10                 They also engage in this rhetoric

         11  about wanting to do something about gun violence by

         12  focusing on the criminal. And calling for greater

         13  punishments on the criminal. What they absolutely

         14  failed to ever acknowledge is that when you focus on

         15  the criminal, you only focus on an event after it

         16  has occurred, rather than trying to think about ways

         17  to stop crimes from being committed. And I think one

         18  of the greatest strengths that gun control brings to

         19  the table is that it does think about in a smart

         20  logical sequential way how criminals get guns and we

         21  try and set up interventions to interfere with that

         22  flow of guns from the legal market to the illegal

         23  market. And there are large number of steps that we

         24  could do, many of which would have an impact on the

         25  national level, and most importantly, for the sake
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          2  of what you're thinking about, that would have a

          3  very direct impact on this City.

          4                 I was a homicide prosecutor in this

          5  county for many years. I saw first hand the impact

          6  of the wide distribution of illegal firearms on this

          7  town. I know full well what effective gun control

          8  laws can do and not for today, but there is a large

          9  dialogue one could have about the effectiveness of

         10  the laws that have been passed both in this City, in

         11  this State, and throughout the country.

         12                 But there are additional laws that we

         13  could pass that would have a very positive impact on

         14  illegal gun trafficking in this City. And the NRA

         15  has fought every single one of those laws, and they

         16  continue to

         17                 The final point I'll make is that it

         18  equally strains credulity for them to argue that

         19  they are some sort of equal opportunity donating

         20  organization, donating equally to Democrats and

         21  Republicans alike. Just look at the votes on the

         22  bills that occurred on the floor in the United

         23  States Senate yesterday and you will see the

         24  Republicans by and large lining up with the NRA

         25  position and the Democrats, not totally, but by and
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          2  large lining up with the position of gun control

          3  advocates.

          4                 If you look at the donating of NRA

          5  money to Republicans versus Democrats, you will see

          6  for every dollar, for every dollar they give to a

          7  Democrat, they give $16 to a Republican. So they far

          8  tilt their giving to the Republican party. And it is

          9  the Republican party that I think bears the

         10  responsibility for the blockage of a lot of these

         11  bills and they are doing it at the behest of the

         12  NRA. And I'll just conclude with this one piece of

         13  proof, if you will.

         14                 If you have any doubt about the

         15  alliance, about the allegiance or this unholy

         16  alliance, between the NRA and the Republican party,

         17  all you have to do is read the New York Times story

         18  today covering the immunity fight that take place in

         19  the Senate yesterday. And you will see in their

         20  statements by Senator Feinstein who said, and the

         21  reporter chronicled this, that after we pass a ban

         22  on assault weapons and after we pass the gun shell

         23  loophole, both of which stunned Republicans, the NRA

         24  started sending messages to the blackberries that

         25  senators were carrying on the floor of the Senate
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          2  saying, don't vote for our bill anywhere. It would

          3  have been an absolute -- what predicted to be an

          4  absolute landslide in the Senate was reversed in

          5  about 15 minutes because the NRA gave instructions

          6  to the Republicans and the Republicans followed. So

          7  the alliance is not between the Republicans, the

          8  Democrats and the NRA. It's not a triangle. It is

          9  clearly one sided, and I think the Republican party

         10  needs to think about that. It needs to think about

         11  the pressure they feel from the NRA, and the

         12  negative impact that has on our ability to fight

         13  crime.

         14                 I would urge you to pass this

         15  resolution to at least get the Republicans to be

         16  thinking about whether or not they should continue

         17  this alliance. And with that I'll conclude.

         18                 MS. HOHLT: Okay? Okay. My name is

         19  Barbara Hohlt. I'm a Board member of New Yorkers

         20  Against Gun Violence, which is a local group that

         21  works for sensible gun laws. And we're here today to

         22  testify in favor of Resolution now 11A, in which the

         23  City Council objects to the inflammatory statements

         24  of the NRA leadership and to its dangerous policies

         25  and ask the Republican party to renounce their views
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          2   -- to renounce these views.

          3                 Obviously, in our country people are

          4  allowed to express their views no matter how

          5  repugnant. However, we have an obligation to object

          6  to these views when they're inflammatory and

          7  dangerous to the health and welfare of our City. And

          8  we feel that the Republican party should also speak

          9  out against such inflammatory and dangerous views.

         10                 Now, you noticed I talked about the

         11  NRA leadership. I think people are perfectly well

         12  aware that the NRA has had a tradition of gun safety

         13  programs and has many ordinary citizens who are

         14  members and often join as members so they can go to

         15  shooting ranges, and that's not our objection. I

         16  think, I wish, they would stick with those safety

         17  programs, but we are talking about the inflammatory

         18  language of the NRA leadership. And while they may

         19  not want to admit it, our City with its strong and

         20  sensible gun laws, is one of the safest cities in

         21  the country. In recent years it has been ranked in

         22  the top ten safest large cities by a book called

         23  City Crime Rankings. And our state is also the fifth

         24  lowest in terms of the firearms death rate. That's

         25  because we have very strong laws, gun permitting
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          2  laws. We have a complete assault weapons ban in this

          3  City. We require child safety locks. We have a lot

          4  of good strong laws. We are affected more by federal

          5  laws that we can't control as well.

          6                 So, the NRA leadership should be

          7  careful about telling us how to deal with guns and

          8  gun violence.

          9                 Furthermore, we have a wonderfully

         10  diverse population in this City. So, we resent

         11  inflammatory statements. Now, I have not read Jeff

         12  Cooper's complete statement. So, I will not refer to

         13  that, even those it's in my testimony. However, the

         14  portion of it that's cited on websites would

         15  certainly imply that he has made some inflammatory

         16  racial comments. And for other board members the

         17  Rocky Mountain News reported on May 8, 2003, that

         18  Ted Nugent, another board member of the NRA, shocked

         19  listeners and disc jockeys when he used derogatory

         20  racial terms for Asians and Blacks on live TV.

         21  According to the paper, he was apparently trying to

         22  make the point that terms are just words and

         23  shouldn't offend anyone. But he missed the mark.

         24  Listeners and Fox personnel agree.

         25                 Previously, according to the website
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          2  NRAleaders.com, he was quoted as saying in the

          3  Detroit Free Press Magazine that "apartheid isn't

          4  that cut and dry. All men are not created equal."

          5                 These remarks by the NRA board

          6  members on race are inflammatory but perhaps not as

          7  dangerous as their rhetoric on gun issues and their

          8  attempts to distort the data to prevent effective

          9  measures to reduce deaths and injuries from gun

         10  violence.

         11                 Their rhetoric which we hear

         12  repeatedly when we debate the NRA, includes the idea

         13  that no gun measures, no matter how small, are good.

         14  Because they will all lead to the eventual

         15  confiscation of guns, the slippery slope theory.

         16                 Kayne Robinson, President of the NRA,

         17  in his December 2003 presidential column in the NRA

         18  publications, made a statement which seems to

         19  combine racial overtones with the slippery slope

         20  theory.

         21                 He said, "when gun banners demonize

         22  and stigmatize guns and the civil rights of gun

         23  owners, they exhibit a bigotry akin to racial

         24  bigotry. It should be opposed as aggressively as

         25  racial bigotry. This is not a matter for cerebral,
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          2  passionless discussion any more than it would be if

          3  any other great civil rights subjects were the

          4  focus."

          5                 NRA members also talk about how

          6  terrible the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms

          7  and Explosives agents are, how they are jack booted

          8  thugs. They predict that we will be like Nazi

          9  Germany if our gun rights are taken away.

         10                 But worse than the rhetoric has been

         11  the attempts of the NRA leadership to distort data

         12  and try to prevent the gathering of data for the

         13  evaluation of effective measures to reduce death and

         14  injuries.

         15                 In 1996, one of the big issues was an

         16  attempt by the gun lobby to defund the National

         17  Center for Injury, Prevention and Control of the

         18  Center for Disease Control. Why would they want to

         19  defund the NCIPC? Well, it had funded some research

         20  to Arthur Kellerman of Emory University. Research

         21  that indicated the gun in the home might lead to a

         22  greater risk of homicide or suicide.

         23                 In the end, the NCIPC was not

         24  defended -- defunded but Congress attempted to

         25  eliminate $2.6 million from the budget. The $2.6
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          2  million that was being spent on gun injury programs.

          3                 The $2.6 million was restored. But it

          4  was earmarked for traumatic brain injury instead. By

          5  the way, one of the leading causes of traumatic

          6  brain injury is firearms injury.

          7                 Earlier, pressure from the gun lobby

          8  kept guns out of the 1972 legislation which set up

          9  the Consumer Product Safety Commission. Guns are one

         10  of only two products not covered by this Commission.

         11  The other product being tobacco. Guns are thus not

         12  part of the study on product safety and there are no

         13  federal rules for gun design and gun safety

         14  features.

         15                 Thus, there are more regulations for

         16  toy guns than there are for real guns.

         17                 So, we oppose the NRA leadership

         18  rhetoric that is inflammatory and prevents careful

         19  evaluation and implementation of policies to reduce

         20  gun deaths and injuries from firearms in our City.

         21                 Although, our City has done a

         22  remarkable job in reducing gun violence, it has been

         23  hindered by the lack of federal laws which the NRA

         24  leadership works against. And the next speaker will

         25  speak more about this.
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          2                 In closing, we support the resolution

          3  and ask the Republican party to reject the rhetoric

          4  and to work to pass strong federal laws which will

          5  make our City even safer than it is. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you. You

          7  may begin.

          8                 MS. SMITH: I'm Edie Smith and I'm the

          9  Head of the New York State Council of the Million

         10  Mom March and also a Board Member of New Yorkers

         11  Against Gun Violence.

         12                 I want to talk a little bit more

         13  about the NRA's efforts in federal legislation.

         14  Yesterday's U.S. Senate defeat of the gun industry

         15  immunity bill exposed the NRA for the extremists

         16  they are. The top NRA legislative priority this year

         17  is to give privileges to the gun industry, taking

         18  away the right of victims of gun violence to have

         19  their day in court. This immunity legislation, if

         20  passed, would also take away our City's right to

         21  have its day in court. It would wipe out the pending

         22  lawsuit New York has brought against the number of

         23  gun manufacturers, distributors and trade

         24  associations for their irresponsible business

         25  practices that contribute to gun violence in New
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          2  York.

          3                 The suit accuses gun manufacturers

          4  and distributors of selling practices they know will

          5  place guns on the illegal market.

          6                 Insiders have testified that even the

          7  threat of such suits puts pressure on the gun

          8  industry to behave more responsibly. But the

          9  industry's first reaction was to seek immunity. No

         10  other industry has this kind of protection.

         11                 Fortunately, sanity prevailed in the

         12  U.S. Senate yesterday when the immunity bill was

         13  defeated. Although, NRA supporters say they will

         14  keep trying. And why didn't it pass? Because the NRA

         15  pulled its support after a majority of the Senate

         16  attached some sensible gun laws to the bill as

         17  amendments.

         18                 It was a real example of bullies at

         19  work insisting on their way or nothing.

         20                 One of these amendments would renew

         21  the assault weapons bans which will go out of

         22  existence in September of this year, unless Congress

         23  takes action. But the NRA opposes renewal. They

         24  think it should be legal in this country to

         25  manufacture and sell military-style guns that are
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          2  only useful for such operations as quickly sweeping

          3  a street, office, or playground with bullets.

          4                 The other amendment that the NRA

          5  objected to would have helped close the gun show

          6  loophole. The loophole in current legislation that

          7  allows anyone, a terrorist, a convicted felon, a

          8  spouse under a restraining order, to buy a gun, no

          9  questions asked, at gun shows in 33 states.

         10                 Although the NRA wasn't successful

         11  yesterday, they have already done some damage to our

         12  laws and the efforts of law enforcement officers

         13  this year. Hidden in the omnibus spending bill that

         14  passed in January, was an amendment that requires

         15  the destruction of all records of gun sales within

         16  24 hours. This means there's no way to correct

         17  mistakes. As one report showed happened in more than

         18  200 cases in one recent six-month period.

         19                 The same legislation bans the Bureau

         20  of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives from

         21  requiring gun dealers to take yearly physical

         22  inventories. And it blocks the ATF from giving not

         23  only the general public, but also law enforcement

         24  officers information on crime guns making it harder

         25  to establish, and, therefore, eliminate patterns of
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          2  gun trafficking.

          3                 Thanks to the City Council and State

          4  legislature, New York City has some effective gun

          5  laws that have helped reduce gun violence in our

          6  City. We also need strong federal laws if we are

          7  going to stop gun trafficking which continues to

          8  bring guns to our City.

          9                 The NRA leadership is one of the

         10  chief obstacles to further reducing gun violence and

         11  the unacceptable number of guns deaths.

         12                 They call people working for sensible

         13  gun laws extremists. They try to convince their

         14  members that we want to take their guns away. That's

         15  not true. We want to keep military weapons off the

         16  street and to find ways to keep guns out of the

         17  hands of the mentally instable, criminals,

         18  terrorists, and children. And the NRA is blocking

         19  our way. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you very

         21  much. Are there any comments?

         22                 Council Member Jennings.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Good

         24  morning. My district, we have lately a lot of --

         25  last year we had -- Southern Queens is not my
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          2  district, but Southern Queens had 28 homicides. Of

          3  which, I believe, maybe 20 cases of which guns were

          4  used. Already in my district this year, we've had

          5  five homicides in which three cases guns were used.

          6  But in every case, none of these guns were

          7  registered, none of these guns were licensed. These

          8  persons acquired these guns. There were no serial

          9  numbers on the guns. Although we have strict gun

         10  control laws, all the gun control laws that we have

         11  and that is not doing anything to prevent illegal

         12  guns from people who have possession of illegal

         13  guns. And from what I understand, and I'm a

         14  certainly an advocate of preventing guns in our

         15  streets, but if I understand what the NRA's general

         16  position is, they want people with licenses to get

         17  guns. They want to give licenses to the people to

         18  have guns. Am I correct?

         19                 MS. SMITH: No.

         20                 MR. ABORN: Are you asking --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Right. The

         22  NRA wants people to get licenses so they can buy

         23  these crazy assault weapons; is that right?

         24                 MS. SMITH No.

         25                 MR. ABORN: No.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: They want --

          3                 MR. ABORN: In some ways, I wish you

          4  were right. They have opposed every attempt that

          5  we've ever brought up to insist on licensing and

          6  registration on guns. Your point is well taken. But

          7  let me dig down a little bit deeper into it. I would

          8  bet that if you looked at the tracing data of those

          9  28 guns used in the homicides in your district or in

         10  Southern Queens, I think you said, you would find

         11  that the vast majority first are pistols.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Right.

         13                 MR. ABORN: Second, you'd find the

         14  overwhelming majority of those are probably 9 mm

         15  semi-automatic pistols. If you dug down further, I

         16  suspect you would find that most of those guns, in

         17  fact probably 99 percent of those guns, came from

         18  one of five states. Florida, Georgia, Alabama, North

         19  Carolina or South Carolina. You would also find that

         20  those guns originated in what may have been a lawful

         21  transaction and then there was a transfer into the

         22  illegal market. Now, the reason I can make those

         23  predictions is because we are very well acquainted

         24  with the gun trafficking patterns of the way guns,

         25  illegal guns, come into New York City. And the
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          2  impact of that is very significant.

          3                 New York City has passed probably the

          4  best, most effective gun control law in the country.

          5  Its called Sullivan Law. It's been on the books

          6  since 1911 in New York State. It has succeeded in

          7  preventing criminals from getting guns here

          8  illegally, here in the City. It has forced the

          9  traffic out of state. So, we know that the right

         10  construct of laws can have a very beneficial impact.

         11  Our problem is we don't have federal laws. We need

         12  the equivalent of the Sullivan Law at the national

         13  level. We need to restrict sales to one gun a month.

         14  If we could do those things, we could then cut down

         15  on the illegal trafficking that have probably

         16  brought those guns into your portion of Queens. So,

         17  it's not that we can only focus on the laws here in

         18  New York City, you have to look at this as a

         19  national issue. And that's where the NRA has really

         20  hurt us. They have succeeded in stopping every

         21  single gun control law that we've tried to pass and

         22  address these specific issues. That's your reason.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I'm glad

         24  that you're here. Because I've always wanted to ask

         25  you guys these questions. And again, I'm not a
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          2  member of the NRA. I certainly not employing in the

          3  background advocating on having guns. But I want to

          4  ask some questions that everybody always ask. Well,

          5  you know, these guys are running around in our

          6  communities with illegal guns, right?  But, yet, a

          7  person who is a law-abiding citizen who never had a

          8  problem with the law, never was in any type of

          9  domestic altercation with anyone, just a person who

         10  pays their tax dollars and wants to live a good life

         11  and wants to keep their family safe, in New York

         12  City, you can't get a gun license to carry a gun --

         13                 MS. SMITH: Yes, you can.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Unless under

         15  some really, really, really, extreme circumstances

         16  like you're a police officer. If anybody is a police

         17  officer, they're allowed to have a gun. And people

         18  who own a business have to show that they carry a

         19  lot of money to have a gun. But people who just go

         20  to a regular job day to day, they can't have a carry

         21  license. Maybe they can get a gun for target

         22  practice. But again, I believe it is six-month

         23  process in doing that. What do you say to the people

         24  who say, well they would like to have gun. But there

         25  is no -- particularly in this region, which I think
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          2  is a good thing in many ways. I wanted you to talk

          3  to those people though that they can get a license,

          4  but they know that there are other guys on the

          5  street who are walking around with illegal guns.

          6                 MR. ABORN: There are, as you said, a

          7  variety of different permits that the New York City

          8  Police Department issues so that you can lawfully

          9  possess a gun. The permit to have a gun in your

         10  place of business, or the permit to have a gun in

         11  your home, or the permit to have a gun to take it to

         12  target practice, as you say, is a relatively easy

         13  permit to get, assuming you have the right

         14  background. No criminal, no exceptions. More

         15  difficult --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: As far as

         17  having it in your business, you have to prove that

         18  you're carrying a large amount of money though.

         19                 MR. ABORN: No, to carry the gun. To

         20  get what's called a full carry permit.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Right.

         22                 MR. ABORN: Which means you can put a

         23  gun on your belt and carry it at all times is a more

         24  difficult permit to get. And the State Legislature,

         25  and I think this body also, has passed laws giving
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          2  the local Police Department the ability to make

          3  those determinations. It is not mandatory that they

          4  issue that license, they issue it as a matter of

          5  discretion. And yes, the NYPD, probably has been

          6  relatively strict about issuing full carry permits.

          7                 I will tell you that there is no

          8  correlation based on the national data between a

          9  large number of citizens carrying guns and reduced

         10  crime. Contrary-wise --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Oh, no, no.

         12  I wasn't making that argument at all. Because I

         13  think anyone who makes that argument is nonsense.

         14                 MR. ABORN: Okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay. I

         16  wasn't making that argument at all. I'm making the

         17  point that there is a lot of people using -- most of

         18  the homicides that takes place in this City is not

         19  that the deaths are a result of gun violence, is not

         20  guns that are licensed. They are actually -- 99

         21  percent of them are guns --

         22                 MS. SMITH: Right.

         23                 MR. ABORN: Absolutely.

         24                 MS. SMITH: Exactly.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I would even
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          2  say a 100 percent of them are illegal guns, not

          3  licensed guns. And when I look at some of the data

          4  around the country and you look at incidents where

          5  there is violence with firearms, again, you look and

          6  notice that 99 percent of the time is using illegal

          7  firearms. Let's say for example, the Columbine,

          8  shooting at Columbine. Those weren't licensed legal

          9  guns.

         10                 MS. SMITH: But one point that I think

         11  people don't realize, because you think we have the

         12  Brady law, which does background checks on all gun

         13  sales, so how does this happen? Well, the fact of

         14  the matter is, there is so many loopholes in the

         15  law, Brady background checks are only doing at

         16  licensed -- when somebody buys a gun at a licensed

         17  gun dealer. That isn't most of the sales. About 40

         18  percent of gun sales, perfectly legal gun sales, in

         19  most states do not involve background checks. So

         20  that's why it's so easy because we don't have

         21  federal laws for guns to move from the legal channel

         22  into the illegal channel. And our problem is in New

         23  York City is illegal firearms and we all know that

         24  that illegal firearms is the problem that we're

         25  working to prevent and we need to pass federal laws
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          2  to prevent that. We need to do more gun crime

          3  tracing so that we can find out which gun dealers

          4  are selling guns into the illegal market.

          5                 There's a recent study that says it

          6  is really only a very small percent of gun dealers

          7  in these states that Richard mentioned that are

          8  selling guns and up in the illegal gun market. But

          9  we have federal laws that tie the hands of the

         10  Bureau of Alcohol Tobacco and Firearms so that they

         11  can't go after those dealers. They're only allowed

         12  to what, make inspections. One inspection a year. It

         13  has to be announced. Those laws were passed in 1986

         14  from the pressure of the gun lobby that make it very

         15  hard to go after these gun dealers who are feeding

         16  those guns into the illegal market. And we know

         17  that's the problem, and we have to go after illegal

         18  guns.

         19                 MR. ABORN: And this is a good

         20  example. One amendments that we passed on the floor

         21  of the Senate yesterday would have closed one of

         22  these gaps --

         23                 MS. SMITH: Loopholes.

         24                 MR. ABORN: -- In the Brady bill. The

         25  gun shell loophole. And the NRA fought that tooth
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          2  and nail. In fact, so much so that once we passed

          3  it, they began to doubt the integrity of their own

          4  legislation.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Okay. Let me

          6  just add one more point and I want to talk about

          7  this bill. I'm looking at the bill, it's condemning

          8  the Republican party, to denounce the NRA and

          9  encouraging it. Why would the Republican party

         10  listen to this extremist liberal Council. I'm a

         11  Democrat, but I mean we are what we are, and we're

         12  viewed as extremist liberals. We all support

         13  anything to the extreme left. Why should the

         14  Republican party pay us any attention and the school

         15  I grew up in, it was always sticks and stones may

         16  break your bones, but words will never hurt us.

         17                 MR. ABORN: Oh, but bullets do.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Of course,

         19  bullets do. But words don't. My colleagues will

         20  attest the nasty press has written on me, I wish I

         21  could put a resolution in and condemn all the stuff

         22  that goes on in the paper, but, you know, why would

         23  they listen to this?

         24                 MR. ABORN: I think there are a number

         25  of responses.
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          2                 First of all, it is true that this

          3  body cannot get the Republican party to stop

          4  listening to the NRA. Absolutely no doubt about it.

          5  But in my view, just because you can't do

          6  everything, doesn't mean you shouldn't do everything

          7  you can. And you have an opportunity here to send

          8  the message. And let's be very honest about this. We

          9  live in a world, in a political world, where these

         10  sort of statements are important. Because it

         11  exercises the conscience of this body. It says that

         12  the Republicans should break this alliance. And that

         13  in of itself may not do it. But, but, as we showed

         14  with the ban on the assault weapons and the Brady

         15  bill, both of which fight for launch from the steps

         16  of this building, you start these battles at the

         17  local level and they build a momentum, and other

         18  City councils take strength in what you do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I hear what

         20  you're saying, but the thing is that we're a

         21  legislative body. We're now attacking a political

         22  party. Again, I'm a Democrat, we're attacking a

         23  political party. Now, what happens when tomorrow

         24  when Oklahoma or Arkansas say look at those crazy

         25  extreme liberal Democrats over there in City Hall
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          2  trying to marry gay people?  They go ahead and they

          3  have -- pass a bill to condemn the Democrat party.

          4  When does all this nasty rhetoric stop?

          5                 MR. ABORN: You --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Again, I

          7  think it would be a little mean-spirited, you know,

          8  for us to condemn, to be condemning a political

          9  party. Okay, we condemn them, they condemn us, and

         10  then let's continue on this war of nastiness.

         11                 MR. ABORN: Except there are two

         12  distinctions. First of all, you are in a unique

         13  position on this resolution because the Republican

         14  National Convention is coming to this City. I don't

         15  think you were here when I made my remarks, but

         16  there is a long multi-year history showing a very

         17  tight line alliance between the NRA and the

         18  Republican party. I don't think such alliance exist

         19  in the Democrat party and if it did -- I'm sorry, I

         20  don't think there is one.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Exist with

         22  whom? With some other organization?

         23                 MR. ABORN: I don't think --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Not with the

         25  NRA?
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          2                 MR. ABORN: No, no.  For sure not with

          3  the NRA.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: But the

          5  Democratic party has tight alliances with other

          6  organizations that could be considered extreme

          7  liberals and people who are Republican might not

          8  like it. We have our ideas. You know, that's a

          9  problem that I think we have with our politicians

         10  and with our government. We go to war over stupid --

         11  over ideas. Every war we fight killing another group

         12  of people because that group -- that country idea or

         13  maybe say for example, communism or whatever,

         14  they're political ideas, we don't like it. Because

         15  we don't like their idea, we have to have a war over

         16  it.

         17                 MR. ABORN: We're not asking -- what

         18  we're asking is that the Republicans begin to

         19  reconsider this alliance that they have and maybe

         20  start to break it. And this is not simply a war of

         21  ideas that has no impact. The positions that the

         22  Republicans are taking at the behest of the NRA has

         23  a very direct impact on our ability to fight gun

         24  trafficking. Which in turn has a very direct impact

         25  on violence in the City. If we do not get control
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          2  over the distribution of guns, we will forever be at

          3  the mercy of illegal guns. And while as Barbara

          4  said, this Police Department here has done a very

          5  remarkable job in reducing crime, we can do better.

          6  We can do better. And we can guarantee that we don't

          7  go back into these old cycles of violence that we

          8  once suffered here at the end of a gun by tightening

          9  up on these laws.

         10                 The NRA position is blocking us and

         11  the reason the NRA position is blocking us is

         12  because the Republicans are willing to take that

         13  position into the floor of the Congress. And that's

         14  what is hurting us. That's why I think it is so

         15  relevant.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Thank you

         17  for being so patient to answer my questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Council Member

         19  Brewer.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         21  much. I just mostly want to thank you for being our

         22  hometown heroes yesterday in Washington and being so

         23  successful on the immunity issue and the gun shows

         24  and trying to think of ways of dealing with the

         25  assault weapons. My question is, what is the federal
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          2  policies that I think are outlined in the

          3  legislation that the NRA supports. I think that's

          4  also part -- some part of the Republican platform

          5  and not part of the Democratic platform. Having

          6  spent a lot of time over the years working at the

          7  Democratic platform, there's no question that your

          8  triangle -- it is not a triangle, it is a back and

          9  forth, and if you look at the platform, you will see

         10  a marked difference on this issue. What are some of

         11  the issues that you think will come up at the

         12  Republican convention? Obviously rhetoric is

         13  something that we're talking about in this

         14  resolution. But are there other between now and the

         15  summer or how is the next step going to be taken in

         16  terms of the House?

         17                 In other words, obviously this is all

         18  part of the same plan.

         19                 MR. ABORN: There are two critical,

         20  critical, critical votes that will come up. And we

         21  really do need Republican support. The first one

         22  will be reauthorization of the ban on assault

         23  weapons. We banned assault weapons in this nation

         24  and we banned large volume clips which are clips

         25  that carry more than ten rounds ten years. That law
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          2  contained a ten year automatic sunset which means

          3  that if the Congress doesn't act in the affirmative,

          4  that law will automatically sunset. In September of

          5  this year, exactly. That is a critical position.

          6  That law expires after the NRA convention, excuse

          7  me, after the Republican convention. I hope it's not

          8  the NRA convention here in New York. So we need

          9  their support on that.

         10                 Secondly, having now passed the gun

         11  show loophole for the second time in the Senate, we

         12  now want to pass in the House and make it the law of

         13  the land which will go directly to the issues you

         14  were talking about before. And we desperately need

         15  Republican support for that. You know, in some ways

         16  Republican position or Democratic position was in

         17  cased yesterday and what the White House did on the

         18  immunity bill and what Senator Kerry did. Senator

         19  Kerry is by all acknowledge means the presumptive

         20  nominee and therefore, the leader of the Democratic

         21  party. He broke his campaign schedule. Came back to

         22  the Senate and made a, I thought, a wonderful speech

         23  on the floor, provided the closing argument for the

         24  Democrats and said this argument is of core

         25  importance to Democratic values. We've got to keep
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          2  these weapons of war off the street.

          3                 The White House issued a statement

          4  called an SAP, a Statement of Administration

          5  Position, in which they urged the Republicans not to

          6  renew the ban on assault weapons and not to pass the

          7  gunshow loophole as part of the immunity bill.

          8  Saying they want a clean bill.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         10                 MR. ABORN: So the President is being,

         11  with the deepest of respect, a bit hypocritical on

         12  this. On the one hand he says, if you send me a

         13  bill, I will sign it. But the moment he has the

         14  opportunity to get after the bill, he says, no, no,

         15  no. Don't send it to me.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Not that bill.

         17                 MR. ABORN: Don't send it to me.

         18  Senator Kerry, the presumptive nominee said, this is

         19  of critical importance. We have to pass it. And he

         20  cast one of the two deciding votes on the bill. So,

         21  I think the positions are very critical.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         23  much, Mr. Chairman. Thank Ally Davis (phonetic) for

         24  helping us to put this together.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.
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          2  Thanks to you and your staff for helping move this

          3  so quickly.

          4                 Right before we adjourn, I want to

          5  give Council Member Jennings the opportunity to have

          6  a closing statement.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I just want

          8  to say that I missed the vote for the bill. I will

          9  have to go the basement and look for the record

         10  keeper. But I just wanted to make where I stand, to

         11  make it clear. I'm a Democrat. I support gun

         12  control, but not because I'm a Democrat, because of

         13  the level of gun violence that I witness in my

         14  community, and especially, like I said, we've

         15  probably had more homicides per capita in Southern

         16  Queens than in the rest of the City.

         17                 However, further denouncing people

         18  and denouncing the Republican party or anyone, I

         19  don't like people telling me who my friends are --

         20  who my friends should be. If the Republicans want to

         21  have the NRA as their friends, that's who they

         22  choose to do so, then you and your constituency know

         23  what to do when they get to the voting box, don't be

         24  the enemy of my enemy is my friend so to speak. So,

         25  if you don't want -- if you don't consider them to
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          2  be friendly to your issues, then you know what to do

          3  with those senators and those Congress members and

          4  Council Members and all those alike on Election Day.

          5  But as far as, I don't want anyone telling me, you

          6  can't have Chairman Serrano as my friend. And I

          7  wouldn't want anyone to say to me -- to tell Gale

          8  Brewer, well if you're associated with Alan

          9  Jennings, I'm not coming to your party. So, I think

         10  the Republican Party had the right to associate with

         11  who they want to. And you certainly have the right

         12  to fight them tooth and nail to change the

         13  Congress's mind in terms of the issues that you

         14  want. That's why I'm not going to vote against your

         15  bill, because I don't want to send a message out

         16  that I'm for guns everywhere, but I'm not going to

         17  vote for it either. I'm going to abstain, okay?

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SERRANO: Thank you.

         20  Thank you. This hearing is concluded.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 3:07 p.m.)
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